

## Original Research Article

**TITLE: Prevalence and Degree of Lower Limb Inequality in Asymptomatic Nigerian young adults Nigerians.**

**Running Title: Lower Limb Inequality**

### **ABSTRACT**

**Objective:** The development of right and left lower limbs start at the same time and subsequent serial growth occurs simultaneously. However at adulthood, small but usually functionally negligible differences exist in their lengths. This study set out to find out the prevalence and degree of lower limb length inequality (LLI) amongst Nigerian young adults Nigerians with grossly normal lower limbs.

**Methods:** Full length and segmental lengths of one hundred and three healthy Nigerian young adults Nigerians of different ethnic groups were measured using the direct clinical method.

**Results:** The overall prevalence of LLI was 89.3% while the rate for male and female was 96.2 % and 82.4 % respectively. The LLI range was 0.5-2.5cm with majority being less than 2.0cm. The LLI was significantly higher in male ( $1.18 \pm 0.83$  vs  $0.75 \pm 0.60$  cm). Side for side, the male limb is significantly longer than that of the female. The thigh girth was significantly wider in the female while there was no difference in the leg girth between male and female. The males were found to be significantly taller than the females. There was no significance difference in the Comparison of the results amongst the major ethnic groups enrolled for this in the study did not reveal significance difference

**Conclusion:** Anatomical lower limb inequality is very common amongst Nigerian young adults Nigerians without any gross musculoskeletal but it is not obvious

Key words: Lower limb length inequality, Young adult Nigerians, Prevalence and degree.

## 1. INTRODUCTION

The limb bud primordia appear at the end of the fourth week as small elevations of the ventrolateral body wall, however most of the development occurs in week 6. The lower limb buds are formed by a series of reciprocal inductions of mesoderm and ectoderm. The lateral somatopleuric mesoderm induces a transitory longitudinal thickening of the surface ectoderm, the wolffian crest, a fold that can be seen in front of the somite column. There is rapid disappearance of the middle portion of the column leaving only two nodules at the extremities of the crest which are at the level of the future bony pectoral and pelvic girdles. The lower limb buds develop opposite the lumbar and upper sacral segments.

The ectodermal nodule or apical ectoderm ridge, located of the proximal side of the column, induces the mesenchyme to grow and develop the limbs in successive waves. Thus each bud is initially a mass of mesenchyme of somatic mesodermal origin covered by ectoderm.

The distal ends of the lower limb buds flatten into paddle shaped foot plates with the toes forming at the margins of the plates-[1]

The human bipedal gait is premised on the organization of the lower limb coupled with its musculoskeletal adaptations [2-4]. Human morphology is a product of its developmental biology thus any alteration or disturbance of the development processes will affect the morphology that may be accompanied with structural and or functional consequence.

Areas in which lower limb length are being applied include ergonomics, height estimation, sex determination and production of leg prostheses.

Lower limb length inequality also known as Leg length inequality (LLI) may be congenital or acquired, symptomatic or asymptomatic. Most of the available studies on the prevalence of leg length inequality were done in patients [5-11] and only one in volunteers [12]. In a systemic review of the prevalence of LLI, it was found that 90% of normal population had some variance in lower limb length with 20% having a difference of more than 9mm [13]. All these studies employed radiological measurements and largely in patients with symptomatic leg length discrepancy and in non-Africans. Thus the need to do a direct measurement approach in Africans (non-symptomatic Nigerians to be specific) is pertinent hence the desirability of this study.

Comment [F1]: Check for spelling

Comment [F2]: Check for spelling

## 2. MATERIALS and METHODS

### 2.1 Demographics of the study population

One hundred and three healthy Nigeria young adults ~~Nigerians~~ both undergraduate and graduate students of the University of Ibadan without any obvious lower limb abnormality were enlisted for the study. Inclusion criteria included being of independent mobility and normal gait pattern. While volunteers with previous lower limb fractures or past history of lower limb orthopaedic procedures were excluded. The recruitment of the participants (subjects) was by a modified snowball sampling technique following an initial systematic random sampling of faculties and departments. Approval for the study was granted by the University of Ibadan / University College Hospital Research Ethics Committee. Only participants whose parents are of same ethnicity were enrolled for the study. Informed consent was sought and obtained from each participant and none was either coerced or gratified. Also, the participants were informed of the risks and benefits of the study.

**Comment [F3]:** Recast the sentence

### 2.2 Anthropometric measurements, data analysis and processing

The enlisted participants were assessed in batches. Eleven direct measurements of the both lower limbs were taken in each subject. These measurements were; apparent lower limb length, real lower limb length, femur length, tibia length, fibula length, foot length, calcaneal length, thigh girth and leg girth. Reference points for these measurements were bony landmarks as approved in the Integrative Measurement Protocol Morphological and Behavioral Research in Human and non- human primates version 1.0 were used [14]. The landmarks of various measurements are as follow:

**Comment [F4]:** Is that the acceptable version to be used?

- i) Real lower limb length = distance between the anterior superior iliac spine and the epicentre of the medial malleolus.
- ii) Apparent lower limb length = distance between the umbilicus and the epicentre of the medial malleolus
- iii) Femur length = distance between the epicentres of the greater trochanter and the lateral femoral epicondyle.
- iv) Tibial length= distance the epicentres of the medial condyle and the medial malleolus.
- v) Fibular length= distance between the epicentres of the fibular head and the lateral malleolus.
- vi) Foot length= from the base of the heel to the tip of the hallux.
- vii) Calcaneal height =distance between the insertion of the calcaneal tendon and the heal base.
- viii) Thigh girth= thigh circumference taken at three points 15cm, 25cm and 35cm proximal to the base of the patella
- ix) Leg girth= leg circumference measured at three points 12cm, 22cm and 32cm above the epicentre of the medial malleolus.

All these measurements were taken by means of a non-elastic fibre tape graduated in centimetres and metres with the subject in the anatomical position and by the same researcher thus eliminating inter observer error. Each parameter was taken thrice and the average recorded. The dignity of each subject was strictly ensured and there was no undue exposure. Height was measured by means of a standard stadiometer to the approximate centimetre. The results were analyzed with SPSS version 22 and expressed as means and level of significance determined with student t- test and set at  $P \leq 0.05$

**Comment [F5]:** Check for spelling

### 3. RESULTS

One hundred and three adult Nigerians with mean age of  $27.60 \pm 2.72$  years and a range of 25-38 years were recruited into and completed the study. The males were 48.5 % (n = 50) of the study population with a mean age of  $27.96 \pm 2.60$  years while the females accounted for 51.5 % (n = 53) having a mean age of  $27.23 \pm 2.80$  years. Thus, both genders were of same age group. The male subjects had a significantly greater height of  $1.73 \pm 0.09$  metres than the female subjects ( $1.63 \pm 0.07$  m). The subjects were from eleven ethnic groups with the three largest groups being Yoruba (58), Igbo (18) and Edo (9) constituting 82.5 % of the study population. Using the real leg length (RLL) as the determinant of prevalence of limb length inequality, 92 of our subjects had LLI thus given a prevalence rate of 89.3%. The LLI prevalence for female was 82.4% while that of the male was 96.2% thus male subjects had a higher LLI prevalence rate. The range of LLI in this study was 0.5- 2.5 cm with majority being under 2.0 cm. The male subjects had significantly higher limb length inequality ( $1.18 \pm 0.83$  vs  $0.75 \pm 0.60$  cm).

The mean absolute leg length (ALL) for the right limb was  $98.07 \pm 5.71$  cm, with measurements occupying a range of 85.50 to 115.00 cm; respective values for the left limb was  $98.25 \pm$  cm and 86.50 to 116.50 cm. The mean male ALL was  $100.81 \pm 5.89$  cm (right) and  $101.09 \pm 5.87$  cm for the left side. The range was 90.00- 115.00 cm for the right limb and 90.00-116.50 cm for the left limb. The females had a mean ALL of  $95.48 \pm 4.17$  cm for the right limb and  $95.58 \pm 4.24$  cm for the left limb while the respective range was 85.50-105.00; and 86.30 - 104.00 cm. The difference between the right and left mean real leg length (RLL) was very negligible and the respective range was 80.50 - 108.00 and 79.50-110.50 cm. The female mean RLL was  $89.55 \pm 4.61$  (right) and  $89.31 \pm 4.53$  cm (left) and the range for the right was 80.50 - 102.00 and left, 79.50 - 100.00 cm. The mean RLL for the male was considerably higher- right  $94.40 \pm 5.69$  cm and left  $94.64 \pm 5.86$  cm likewise the range (84.00-108 for the right limb and 83.00- 110.50 cm for the left limb). The mean femur length of both limbs was essentially the same (R: L;  $42.79 \pm 3.07$ ;  $42.92 \pm 2.94$  cm) and both had same range of 37.00-52.00 cm. The pattern of femur length for male was mean of  $43.06 \pm 3.30$  cm (right) and  $43.37 \pm 3.05$  cm (left) and the range for both sides was 38.00-52.00 cm. The mean femur length for the female was  $42.53 \pm 2.54$  (right) and  $42.50 \pm 2.80$  cm (left) and respective range was 37.00-52.00 and 37.00-51.00 cm. The difference between the right and left mean tibia length was less than 1mm ( $37.30 \pm 2.94$  vs  $37.36 \pm 2.70$  cm) and the range of the tibia length was 31.50-45.00 (right) and 32.00-47.00 cm left. The mean length of the tibia in the males on either side was  $37.92 \pm 2.76$  on the right and  $38.09 \pm 2.97$  cm on the left. While corresponding values for the females were  $36.72 \pm 2.54$  and  $36.67 \pm 2.52$  cm respectively. As for the range of the tibia length, the male values were 32.00-45.00 cm (right) and 32.00-47.00 cm (left) those of the female were 31.50-42.00 on the right and 32.00-42.00 cm on the left. In the male, the mean length of the fibula on the right was  $39.15 \pm 2.99$  cm and on the left was  $39.22 \pm 3.22$  cm with the respective range being 33.50- 47.50 and 33.00-47.00 cm. The mean length of the female fibula was  $37.41 \pm 2.47$  (right) and  $37.36 \pm 2.44$  cm (left) with respective range of 32.50 - 45.00 cm and 32.50-44.00 cm. The overall mean length of the right fibula was  $38.25 \pm 2.86$  cm and for the left was  $38.26 \pm 2.87$  cm; with respective range of 32.50 - 47.50 and 32.50 - 47.00 cm. The mean foot length was  $25.12 \pm 1.60$  cm (right) and  $25.30 \pm 1.65$  cm (left) while the range for the right was 21.00 - 29.50 cm and left 21.00 - 30.00 cm (right). The male had a mean length of  $25.91 \pm 1.48$  cm for the right foot and  $26.25 \pm 1.38$  cm for the left foot; the range for the right was 22.50 - 29.50 cm and 22.50 -30.00 cm for the left. The mean length of the female foot was  $24.38 \pm 1.35$  (right) and  $24.40 \pm 1.35$  cm (left) and had a range of 21.00- 27.50 cm on both sides. The mean height of the calcaneum was very similar on both sides  $5.24 \pm 0.64$  likewise the range 3.50-7.00 cm. Both male and female calcaneal mean length was nearly the same  $5.30 \pm 0.70$  cm and  $5.18 \pm 0.58$  cm respectively. The thigh girth ranged between 41.50 and 78.80 cm for the right and from 43.00 to 77.80 cm on the left; the mean girth was  $53.03 \pm 7.21$  cm for the right thigh

and  $52.79 \pm 7.87$  cm for the left. The mean thigh girth for the male was  $50.48 \pm 6.93$  (right) and  $49.80 \pm 7.79$  cm (left) and the respective range was 41.50-78.80 and 39.80-77.80 cm. The female had wider thigh girth ( $55.48 \pm 6.66$  –right,  $55.28 \pm 6.82$  cm – left) and the range for the right thigh was 43.70 – 72.30 cm and 43.00 – 73.00 cm for the left thigh. The mean leg girth was  $29.77 \pm 2.82$  (right) and  $29.66 \pm 2.83$  cm (left) while the range was 24.70-39.80 cm for the right leg and 24.80-39.30 cm for the left leg. The mean girth of the male leg was essentially the same for both sides and the female leg had a pattern similar to that of the male (Table 1). Analysis of the results along ethnicity line did not reveal any remarkable difference rather, each of the parameters exhibited very similar values for respective parameter (Table 2)

**Comment [F6]:** The result is too wordy. Kindly summarize then the table would help more

UNDER PEER REVIEW

**Table 1: Lower Limb Somatometry Values**

Parameter	Mean (cm) (N= 103)		Range (cm)		Male Mean (cm) (N=50)		Male Range (cm) (N= 50)		Female Mean (cm) (N=53)		Female Range (cm) (N=53)	
	R	L	R	L	R	L	R	L	R	L	R	L
<b>ALL</b>	98.07 ±5.71	98.25 ±5.78	85.50 115.00	86.50 116.50	100.81 ±5.89 <sup>a</sup>	101.09 ±5.87 <sup>b</sup>	90.00 115.00	90.00 116.50	95.48 ±4.17 <sup>a</sup>	95.58 ±4.24 <sup>b</sup>	85.50 105.00	86.30 104.00
<b>RLL</b>	91.90 ±5.69	91.87 ±5.83	80.50 108.00	79.50 110.50	94.40 ±5.69 <sup>c</sup>	94.62 ±5.86 <sup>d</sup>	84.00 108.00	83.00 110.50	89.55 ±4.61 <sup>c</sup>	89.31 ±4.53 <sup>d</sup>	80.50 102.00	79.50 100.00
<b>FL</b>	42.79 ±3.07	42.92 ±2.94	37.00 52.00	37.00 52.00	43.06 ±3.30	43.37 ±3.05	38.00 52.00	38.50 52.00	42.53 ±2.85	42.50 ±2.80	37.00 52.00	37.00 51.00
<b>TL</b>	37.30 ±2.94	37.36 ±2.70	31.50 45.00	32.00 47.00	37.92 ±2.76	38.09 ±2.97	32.00 45.00	32.00 47.00	36.72 ±2.54	36.67 ±2.52	31.50 42.00	32.00 42.00
<b>Fb L</b>	38.25 ±2.86	38.26 ±2.87	32.50 47.50	32.50 47.00	39.15 ±2.99	39.22 ±3.22	33.50 47.50	33.00 47.00	37.41 ±2.47	37.36 ±2.44	32.50 45.00	32.50 44.00
<b>CH</b>	5.24 ±0.64	5.22 ±0.63	4.00 7.00	3.50 7.00	5.30 ±0.70	5.34 ±0.73	4.00 7.00	3.50 7.00	5.18 ±0.58	5.11 ±0.50	4.00 6.50	4.00 6.00
<b>Ft L</b>	25.12 ±1.60	25.30 ±1.65	21.00 29.50	21.00 30.00	25.91 ±1.48 <sup>f</sup>	26.25 ±1.38 <sup>g</sup>	22.50 29.50	22.50 30.00	24.38 ±1.35 <sup>f</sup>	24.40 ±1.35 <sup>g</sup>	21.00 27.50	21.00 27.50
<b>TG</b>	53.03 ±7.21	52.79 ±7.87	41.50 78.80	43.00 77.80	50.48 <sup>h</sup> ±6.93	49.80 <sup>k</sup> ±7.97	41.50 78.80	39.80 77.80	55.48 <sup>h</sup> ±6.66	55.28 <sup>k</sup> ±6.82	43.70 72.30	43.00 73.00
<b>LG</b>	29.77 ±2.82	29.66 ±2.83	24.70 39.80	24.80 39.30	29.43 ±2.74	29.33 ±2.73	25.50 39.80	25.50 39.00	30.09 ±2.95	29.97 ±2.92	24.70 38.70	24.80 39.30
<b>Mean Height</b>					1.73 ± 0.09 <sup>n</sup> (m)				1.63±0.07 <sup>n</sup> (m)			
<b>LLI (cm)</b>					1.18±0.83 <sup>p</sup>				0.75±0.60 <sup>p</sup>			
<b>Prevalence of LLI</b>					96.2%				82.4%			
<b>Overall Prevalence of LLI</b>					89.3%							

**LEGENDS:** ALL- Absolute leg length, RLL- Real leg length, FL- Femur length, TL- Tibia length, Fb L- Fibula length,

Ft L- Foot length, CH- Calcaneal height, TG- Thigh girth-, LG- Leg girth and LLI- Limb length inequality

For the range, the upper value is the minimum while the lower value is the maximum.

\* \*a, b, c, d, e, f, g, h, k & n are paired parameters with significant differences (P value ≤ 0.05)

Formatted: Centered, Space After: 0 pt, Line spacing: single

Formatted: Centered, Space After: 0 pt, Line spacing: single

Formatted: Centered, Space After: 0 pt, Line spacing: single

Formatted: Centered, Space After: 0 pt, Line spacing: single

Formatted: Centered, Space After: 0 pt, Line spacing: single

Formatted: Centered, Space After: 0 pt, Line spacing: single

Formatted: Centered, Tab stops: Not at 3.25" + 6.5"

Formatted: Centered, Tab stops: Not at 3.25" + 6.5"

Formatted: Centered, Tab stops: Not at 3.25" + 6.5"

Formatted ... [1]

Formatted ... [2]

Formatted ... [3]

Formatted ... [4]

Formatted ... [5]

Formatted ... [6]

Formatted ... [7]

Formatted ... [8]

Formatted ... [9]

Comment [F7]:

Comment [F8]: This sentence should ... [10]

**Table 2: Ethnic distribution of Lower limb somatometry values**

Parameter	Mean (cm)		Range (cm)	
	A	Yoruba (58)	R	L
	R	L	R	L
<b>ALL</b>	98.31 ±6.15	98.47 ±6.34	88.00-115.00	88.00-116.50
<b>RLL</b>	92.16 ±6.22	92.25± 6.29	82.00-108.00	81.50-110.50
<b>FL</b>	43.03 ±3.42	43.09± 3.25	37.50 -52.00	37.00-52.00
<b>TL</b>	37.13 ±2.89	37.28 ±3.12	31.50- 45.00	32.00- 47.00
<b>Fb L</b>	38.39 ±3.19	38.33 ± 3.19	33.00- 47.50	33.00- 47.00
<b>Ft L</b>	25.14 ±1.72	25.33 ±1.74	21.00 - 29.50	21.00- 30.00
<b>CH</b>	5.22 ± 0.71	5.16 ± 0.66	4.00- 7.00	3.50- 6.50
<b>TG</b>	47.30 ± 8.08	47.70 ±8.26	41.50 - 78.80	39.80 - 77.80
<b>LG</b>	27.00 ± 3.14	26.00 ±3.07	25.50- 39.80	25.00 - 39.30
	<b>B Igbo (18)</b>			
<b>ALL</b>	99.28 ±6.13	99.33 ±5.86	87.00 -110.00	87.50 - 111.00
<b>RLL</b>	92.78 ±5.36	92.61 ±5.51	81.00 -102.00	80.50-103.00
<b>FL</b>	42.86 ±2.76	43.00 ±2.85	38.00- 48.70	38.00- 47.00
<b>TL</b>	38.00± 2.58	38.00 ± 2.64	32.50- 41.00	32.50- 41.50
<b>Fb L</b>	38.94 ±2.77	39.11 ± 2.64	32.50- 43.00	32.50- 43.00
<b>Ft L</b>	25.72± 1.37	26.06 ± 1.27	23.00 - 28.00	23.00- 28.00
<b>CH</b>	5.28 ± 0.75	5.28 ± 0.75	4.00 - 6.50	4.50-7.00
<b>TG</b>	53.93 ± 5.36	53.71 ± 5.15	47.20- 69.70	47.70- 68.30
<b>LG</b>	30.39 ± 2.20	30.56 ± 2.30	27.50 -34.50	27.30- 34.70
	<b>C Edo (9)</b>			
	R	L	R	L
<b>ALL</b>	98.56 ± 4.26	99.40 ± 4.52	93.00- 105.50	93.50-106.00
<b>RLL</b>	93.22 ± 5.06	93.44 ± 5.18	88.50- 100.00	86.00 -100.50
<b>FL</b>	42.39 ± 1.83	43.0 ± 2.00	39.00- 45.00	40.00- 46.00
<b>TL</b>	38.67 ± 2.11	38.17 ± 2.11	36.00- 42.00	35.50- 40.50
<b>Fb L</b>	38.17 ± 2.11	38.50 ± 1.90	36.00- 41.00	36.00- 41.00
<b>Ft L</b>	25.56 ± 1.61	25.44 ± 1.42	23.50- 28.00	23.50- 28.00
<b>CH</b>	5.22 ± 0.51	5.33 ± 0.50	4.50 - 6.00	4.50 - 6.00
<b>TG</b>	55.67 ± 7.03	56.38 ± 6.84	47.80 -69.00	47.50 -69.50
<b>LG</b>	30.63 ± 2.83	30.56 ± 2.71	27.80- 36.30	27.80- 36.30

**LEGFENDS:** ALL-Absolute leg length, RLL- Real leg length, FL- Femur length, TL- Tibia length, Fb L-Fibula length, Ft L-Foot length, CH- Calcaneal height, TG- Thigh girth and LG- Leg girth. For the range, the upper value is the minimum while the lower value is the maximum.

**Formatted:** Centered, None, Space Before: 0 pt, Line spacing: single, Don't keep with next, Don't keep lines together

**Formatted:** Centered, Space After: 0 pt, Line spacing: single

**Formatted:** Centered, Space After: 0 pt, Line spacing: single

**Formatted:** Centered, Space After: 0 pt, Line spacing: single

**Formatted:** Centered, Space After: 0 pt, Line spacing: single

**Formatted:** Centered, Space After: 0 pt, Line spacing: single

**Formatted** ... [11]

**Formatted** ... [12]

**Formatted** ... [13]

**Formatted** ... [14]

**Formatted** ... [15]

**Formatted** ... [16]

**Formatted** ... [17]

**Formatted** ... [18]

**Formatted** ... [19]

**Formatted** ... [20]

**Formatted** ... [21]

**Formatted** ... [22]

**Formatted** ... [23]

**Formatted** ... [24]

**Formatted** ... [25]

**Formatted** ... [26]

**Formatted** ... [27]

**Formatted** ... [28]

**Formatted** ... [29]

**Formatted** ... [30]

**Formatted** ... [31]

**Formatted** ... [32]

**Formatted** ... [33]

**Formatted** ... [34]

**Formatted** ... [35]

**Formatted** ... [36]

**Formatted** ... [37]

**Formatted** ... [38]

**Formatted** ... [39]

**Formatted** ... [40]

**Comment [F9]:** This sentence should ... [41]

#### 4. DISCUSSION

The anterior superior iliac spine is at the same transverse plane with the head of the femur, thus the distance from it to the inferior limit of the calcaneum is actually the entire length of the lower limb. This is equivalent to the sum of the real lower limb length and calcaneal length. The umbilicus is in the same transverse plane with the third and fourth intervertebral junction, thus using it as a reference point for lower limb length incorporates the terminal quarter of the trunk into the limb. However due to ease of identification, it also used for lower limb length measurement; thus such value is referred to as apparent leg length. It should be noted that the lower limb as an entity does not function in isolation but rather in synergy with the pelvis thus the apparent leg length is the functional length while the real leg length constitutes the anatomical length.

Comment [F10]: Check spelling

In this study, both the whole lengths (i.e. apparent leg length and real leg length) and the segmental lengths of the femur, tibia, fibula, foot and calcaneal height showed side inequalities. These side inequalities were very small and in fact less than one centimetre. Both girths, i.e. thigh and leg also exhibited side inequalities. These side inequalities were of no specific pattern i.e. for some, the right was higher while for others it was the left. Those in the former category include the Real limb length, Calcaneal length and Leg girth while the Apparent leg length, Femur length, Tibial length, fibula length, foot length and Thigh girth were of the latter category. It was also observed that none of these side inequalities was of statistical significance. These negligible differences between the right and left lower limb length could explain why limb length inequality is not obvious in the normal walking and running gait.

Comment [F11]: Check spelling

Comment [F12]: Check spelling

This study has been able to establish that inequalities of lower limb length exist between the corresponding sides of male and female leg. Expressed numerically, the male lower limb is averagely five centimetre (5cm) longer than its corresponding female counterpart. Though all the segments of the lower limb account for these differences, the leg segment is largely responsible for these inequalities. Segmental lengths in which inequalities exist include the apparent leg length, real leg length and fibula length. In all of these lengths, the male values were significantly longer than the corresponding female values. The right male foot was significantly longer than its female counterpart and similar observation was made for the left. This gender disparity in height and segmental lengths may be genetic in origin. The principal male sex hormone is the testosterone and this is largely produced by the gonads (testes) while the female sex hormones are the estrogen and progesterone overtly synthesized by the ovaries. Testosterone is known to stimulate radial and longitudinal bone growth. As would have been expected, the female had significantly wider thigh girth than the male. This expectation is borne out of the fact that the female has increased fat deposit in the thigh. Estrogen has direct effects within adipose tissue and has been implicated in regional adiposity [15]. Women have increased tendency to accumulate fat especially in the subcutaneous layer and gynoid region than men [16]. A gynoid pattern of fat distribution is a low body segment fat particularly in the hip and thigh. The female leg girth was not significantly wider than that of the male thus it may be reasonably concluded that females have significantly greater tendency of increased adipose tissue deposition in the thigh and not in the leg than males.

Comment [F13]: Check spelling

Comment [F14]: Check spelling

Comparison of the limb parameters amongst the three ethnic groups of Yoruba, Igbo and Edo did not reveal any significance difference either intra ethnic or inter ethnic. All these ethnic groups are Negroid this may explain the similarities in the lower limb parameters and the existence of none significance.

Comment [F15]: Check spelling

Significant lower limb inequality may result in altered pelvic and lower limb biomechanics with consequent pelvic obliquity in the coronal plane. The distorted pelvis will result in functional scoliosis, deformed posture, asymmetric gait, lower back pain, gonarthrosis or coxa arthrosis [17]



The gold standard for the evaluation of lower limb inequality is radio imaging which include plain radiographs, scanograms, computerized tomography and magnetic resonance imaging. Apart for exposure to ionizing radiation, cost and logistics render these techniques impracticable for being used for population study to which the present study belongs. Both the direct measurement approach and the radio-imaging techniques cannot be used for dynamic lower limb discrepancy. However, the described technique for dynamic lower limb discrepancy during the gait cycle variously known as Modified Helen Hayes, Kadaba, Newington and Gage [18] is very limited in application. This biomechanical model allows analysis of discrepancy during the stance and swing phases of gait, it can only be deployed in a laboratory setting, hence its relevance is much more in clinical evaluation of patients with length limb discrepancy. In a review of -mixed multitude of eight studies on limb length inequality spanning between 1983 and 1997, involving 573 human subjects, the mean LLI was  $0.51 \pm 0.41$  cm with a range of 0-2cm. In those studies LLI was assessed radiologically and the subjects included marathon runners and patients with musculoskeletal symptomatology [13]. Although our study involved persons with grossly normal limbs, our LLI range of 0.5-2.5 cm (majority being less than 2.0cm) was to what was obtained in that review. Also in that review, the left leg was found to be longer than the right in our study the difference in length between both lower limbs was negligible. This non-concordance in limb length might be due to difference in methodology as our study used direct measurement while theirs utilized radiology. Our study revealed that in normal population, the male left leg is significantly longer than its female counter part and similar observation holds for the right lower limb. This gender disparity in limb length may be attributable to testosterone which is the male sex hormone. There are other studies that had reported the left limb being anatomically longer than the right [19-21]. What makes the left leg to be longer than the right is not known, if this is attributed to the sigmoid (pelvic) colon then there should have been tilting of the pelvis to the left but this is not so; thus the cause of a longer left limb is unknown. Some radiographic studies that analysed their results along gender line did not report any remarkable disparity between male and female lower limbs [5, 9, 12, 22]

**Comment [F16]:** Check spelling

A lower limb inequality prevalence rate of 89% is very close to the 90% prevalence obtained by related studies [23, 24]. Thus anatomic limb inequality is very common but not obvious because all the subjects of this study had normal gait had no symptom related to limb discrepancy. Lower limb inequality becomes an issue of clinical significance when there is superadded pelvic or limb pathology. In discussing LLI prevalence one as to take into consideration the demographics of the study population as this is bound to affect the rate. The available rates in the literature for normal population differ greatly from those of patients with varied symptomatology such as low back pain, post limb skeletal injury and skeletal deformities [25]. Also the method of study whether it is clinical (direct and non-direct) or radiological and the proficient level of the examiner will affect the rate thus all these variables have to be taken into consideration in comparing prevalence rates.

Computerized tomography (CT) scan is considered the gold standard for lower limb length measurement from the viewpoints of high accuracy and very low radiation dose which is 80% less than plain radiography [26,27]. However ethical consideration does not permit its use in studies that involve population with grossly normal lower limbs such as ours. Cost of CT scan is another major consideration in its deployment for anthropometric studies. The reliability and accuracy of tape measure method in determination of lower limb length has been evaluated by several comparative studies with plain radiograph and CT scan [28-30]. Such studies reported very high correlation coefficients even above (0.991). From the fore going and couple with the fact there was no significance difference in any of the measured parameters amongst the three major ethnic groups sampled in this study, the results of this study could thus serve as base-line lower limb length data for the Nigerian population.

**Comment [F17]:** The discussion is too wordy. It should be brief and show details .it is more or less like a repetition of results

## Conclusion

Lower limb inequality exists amongst young adults Nigerians with grossly normal lower extremities that are asymptomatic for musculoskeletal pathologies. The LLI is of high prevalence but very low in magnitude this may account for its being innocuous

**Comment [F18]:** This conclusion is too shallow. It needs to be re-written

## Consent

Prior to the commencement of the study, informed consent was sought and obtained from the participants and none was either coerced or gratified. The probable risks and benefit of the study were adequately and clearly communicated to the participants.

**Comment [F19]:** Informed consent from who?

## Ethical Approval

Formal approval for the study was sought for and granted by the University of Ibadan / University College Hospital Research Ethics Committee. The conduct of this human study was in strict compliance ~~to~~ with the guidelines and regulations of the Ethical body.

## References

1. Pansky Ben. Review of Medical Embryology. Macmillan USA 1982
- 2 Ahmed, A.A. (2014):. Study of Correlations within the Dimensions of Lower Limb Parts for Personal Identification in a Sudanese Population. The Scientific World Journal
3. Moore, K.L., Dalley, A.F., Agur, A.M.R. (2014): Clinically Oriented Anatomy 5th ed. London: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins
4. Standring, S. (2016): Gray's Anatomy 41st ed. Edinburgh: Elsevier
5. Gross RH: Leg length discrepancy in marathon runners. *Am J Sports Med.* 1983; 11(3):121-124.
6. Venn EK, Wakefield KA, Thompson PR: A comparative study of leg-length checks. *Eur J Chiropractic* 1983; 31:68-80.
7. Cleveland RH, Kushner DC, Ogden MC, Herman TE, Kermond W, Correia JA: Determination of leg length discrepancy. A comparison of weight-bearing and supine imaging. *Invest Radiol.* 1988; 23(4):301-304.
8. Hoikka V, Ylikoski M, Tallroth K: Leg-length inequality has poor correlation with lumbar scoliosis. *Arch Orthop Trauma Surg.* 1989; 108:173-175.
9. Beattie P, Isaacson K, Riddle DL, Rothstein JM: Validity of derived measurements of leg-length differences obtained by use of a tape measure. *Phys Ther.* 1990; 70(3):150-157.
10. Soukka A, Alaranta H, Tallroth K, Heliovaara M. Leg-length inequality in people of working age. The association between mild inequality and low-back pain is questionable. *Spine.* 1991; 16(4):429-431.

11. Rhodes DW, Mansfield ER, Bishop PA, Smith JF. The validity of the prone leg check as an estimate of standing leg length inequality measured by x-ray. *J Manipulative Physiol Ther.*1995; 18(6):343-346.
12. Mincer AE, Cummings GS, Andrew PD, Rau JL. Effect of leg length discrepancy on trunk muscle fatigue and unintended trunk movement. *J Phys Ther Sci.*1997; 9(1):1-6.
13. Knutson GA. Anatomic and functional leg-length inequality: A review and recommendation for clinical decision-making. Part I, anatomic leg-length inequality: prevalence, magnitude, effects and clinical significance. *Chiropr Osteopat.* 2005; 13:11.
14. Antón, SC, Snodgrass, JJ, and the Bones and Behavior Working Group: Integrative measurement protocol for morphological and behavioral research in human and non-human primates. Version 1.0, 2009.
15. Gavin KM, Cooper EE, Raymer DK, Hickner RC. Estradiol effects on subcutaneous adipose tissue lipolysis in premenopausal women are adipose tissue depot specific and treatment dependent. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab.* 2013;304: E1167- E1174.
16. Ley CJ, Lees B, Stevenson JC. Sex- and menopause-associated changes in body fat distribution. *Am J Clin Nutr.*1992; 950-954.
17. Khamis S, Carmeli E. A new concept for measuring leg length discrepancy. *Journal of Orthopaedics.* 2017; 14:276-280.
18. Kirtley C. Clinical Gait Analysis: Theory and Practice. London: Churchill Livingstone: Elsevier; 2006
19. Fisk JW, Baigent ML. Clinical and radiological assessment of leg length. *NZ Med J.*1975:477-480.
20. Friberg O. Clinical symptoms and biomechanics of lumbar spine and hip joint in leg length inequality. *Spine.*1983,8(6):643-651.
21. Hoikka V, Ylikoski M, Tallroth K: Leg-length inequality has poor correlation with lumbar scoliosis. *Arch Orthop Trauma Surg.* 1989; 108:173-75.
22. Correia JA: Determination of leg length discrepancy. A comparison of weight-bearing and supine imaging. *Invest Radiol.*1988; 23(4):301-304.
23. Lawrence D: Lateralization of weight in the presence of structural short leg: a preliminary report. *J Manipulative Physiol Ther.*1984; 7(2):105-108.
24. Korpelainen R, Orava S, Karpakka J, Siira P, Hulkko A. Risk factors for recurrent stress fractures in athletes. *Am J Sports Med.* 2001;29(3):304-310.
25. Brady RJ, Dean JB, Skinner TM, Gross MT. Limb length Inequality: Clinical implications for assessment and intervention. *Journal of Orthopaedic and Sports Physical Therapy.*2003;33(5):221-234.

26. Aaron A, Weinstein D, Thickman D, Eilert R. Comparison of orthoroentgenography and computed tomography in the measurement of limb-length discrepancy. *Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery Am.*1999; 74: 897–902.

27. Carey RP, de Campo JF, Menelaus MB. Measurement of leg length by computerised tomographic scanography: Brief report. *Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery Br.*1987; 69: 846–847.

28. Gogia PP, Braatz JH 1986 Validity and reliability of leg length measurements. *Journal of Orthopaedic and Sports Physical Therapy* 8: 185–188.

29. Jamaluddin S, Sulaiman AR, Imran MK, Juhara H, Ezane MA, Nordin S. Reliability and accuracy of the tape measurement method with a nearest reading of 5 mm in the assessment of leg length discrepancy. *Singapore Medical Journal.*2011; 52: 681–684.

30. Neelly K, Wallmann HW, Backus CJ. Validity of measuring leg length with a tape measure compared to a computed tomography scan. *Physiotherapy Theory and Practice.*2013; 29(6):487-492.

**Comment [F20]:** References should follow journal rules